STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRIAN WILLIE LEWIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000482

RECEIVED

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MAY 15 2018

SC Court of Appeals

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

Whether the trial court erred in charging the jury that “[a] reasonable doubt is that doubt which would make an honest, conscientious juror searching for the truth in a case to hesitate to act” where the use of such language is disfavored, especially in the context of the court’s charge on reasonable doubt?

### II.

Whether the trial court erred in declining to charge Appellant’s requested instructions on identification and credibility where they court’s standard charges failed to address many of the factors that the jury should reasonably consider in evaluating the accuracy of the identification and the credibility of the witnesses and failed to charge the jurors that they “may believe all, part, or none of a witness’ testimony” and “may believe many witnesses against one or one against many?”

### III.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting the out-of-court statements of Appellant where the statements were not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily tendered under the totality of the circumstances?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 28, 2016, the Greenville County returned indictments against Appellant Brian Lewis for armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, conspiracy, and resisting arrest. R. 489

On February 7 – 9, 2017, Lewis appeared for trial before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons and a jury. Lewis was represented by William Grove and Michael Martinez, and the State was represented by assistant solicitor Jennifer Tessitore. R. 1. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as to all offenses. R. 480. Judge Gibbons imposed sentences of twenty-seven years for armed robbery, a consecutive term of five years for the weapons offense, a concurrent term of five years for conspiracy, and a concurrent term of one year for resisting arrest. R. 484.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court erred in charging the jury that “[a] reasonable doubt is that doubt which would make an honest, conscientious juror searching for the truth in a case to hesitate to act” where the use of such language is disfavored, especially in the context of the court’s charge on reasonable doubt.**

#### Introduction

Appellant Brian Lewis was the scape goat for three teenage boys – Donny Campbell, Cordell Lewis, and Robert Jackson – who were afraid of facing the consequences of their actions and feared that Lewis had told police what he knew about their involvement in the robbery of a pizza delivery man. On the afternoon of July 22, 2015, Steven Haefner, the owner of a Domino’s pizza in Greenville went to deliver pizza to Grove Station Apartments. When he knocked on the door of apartment 283, no one answered. Haefner returned to his car and saw four young black men walk out of the breezeway toward him. R. 110, l. 18 – 114, l. 20.

Robert Jackson told Haefner that the pizza was for “his people” and offered to pay with a credit card. At Haefner’s prompting, Jackson knocked lightly on the apartment door and also received no response. R. 114, l. 24 – 115, l. 15; R. 178, l. 13 – 179, l. 17. When Jackson motioned for Haefner to come toward him, another black male came out of the breezeway with what Haefner believed was a handgun and told Haefner to get on the ground and throw his keys and wallet. R. 115, ll. 15-19; R. 119, l. 12 – 120, l. 4. Haefner complied with the demands and said the gun was held to the back of his head while someone picked up his keys and wallet. R. 122, l. 5 – 123, l. 9. Donny Campbell and Cordell Lewis each kicked Haefner before getting into Haefner’s blue Toyota Highlander and driving off. R. 123, ll. 12-16; R. 245, ll. 19-23; R. 324, l. 15 – 327, l. 10.

Despite the brevity of his interaction with the gunman and ability only to describe him as a “black gentleman . . . shorter than I was” wearing a T-shirt, during a photo array conducted two days after the incident and Lewis’ arrest, Haefner selected Lewis’ picture and identified him as the person who approached him with a gun and made an in-court identification of Lewis. R. 120, l. 5 – 121, l. 6; R. 131, l. 3 – 136, l. 2; R. 146, ll. 1-19. The “gun” was not an actual firearm, but rather an unloaded CO2 pellet pistol that resembled an automatic weapon. R. 121, ll. 7-14; R. 341, l. 13 – 344, l. 20. Lewis denied any involvement in the armed robbery but admitted that he got into the stolen car near another courtyard up the hill and was driving it when confronted by police later that night. State’s Ex. 53.<sup>1</sup>

Donny Campbell, Cordell Lewis, and Robert Jackson all testified at Lewis’ trial, each having accepted a plea offer to reduced charges in exchange for their testimony. R. 235, l. 4 – 266, l. 6; R. 318, l. 6 – 334, l. 24; R. 167, l. 17 - 184, l. 25. None of them told the same story. Campbell admitted that the call for the pizza delivery was made from his cell phone and that the airsoft gun used belonged to him, yet he claimed that it was Lewis who placed the call and held the gun. R. 240, l. 19 – 241, l. 14; R. 260, ll. 17-20. Notably, when police apprehended Campbell the airsoft gun was found in the woods next to where Campbell was hiding, and he admitted that he carried it into the woods with him. R. 241, l. 15 – 242, l. 6; R. 267, l. 15 – 272, l. 5; R. 280, l. 19 – 281, l. 4. Jackson admitted to his role in trying to stall the pizza man by pretending that the pizza was his but said he walked away when Brian Lewis came out with a gun. R. 178, l. 9 – 181, l. 13. He claimed that he “never saw the other two guys” but admitted that in his first statement to police he named Cordell Lewis. R. 181, ll. 14-16; R. 189, ll. 7-18. Cordell Lewis, Appellant Lewis’ younger brother, said that Campbell placed the pizza order. R.

---

<sup>1</sup> State’s Exhibit 53, the DVD of the redacted interview of defendant, is on file with this Court.

322, ll. 1-5. Cordell alleged that Lewis was the one with a gun, but admitted that he did not give a statement inculcating Lewis until after police told him that Lewis had given a statement putting all of the blame on Cordell. R. 323, ll. 8-20; R. 331, ll. 19-25. At that point, Cordell told the investigators – who lied to him about the content of Lewis’ statement – “well, if he rolled on me, I’m going to roll on him back.” R. 332, l. 1 – 333, l. 12.

Moncia Moran, the property manager at Grove Station apartments claimed that she saw Donny Campbell, Robert Jackson, Cordell Lewis, and Brian Lewis together in the breezeway at approximately 2:30 p.m. on the day of the incident, at which time she told them not to loiter in the common areas. R. 152, l. 19 – 156, l. 3. However, investigator Michael Stanton said the conversation with the property manager yielded only three names – Robert Jackson, Cordell Lewis, and Denzel Owens. Stanton averred that Denzel Owens’ name never came up again in the investigation and there was “no evidence that indicates he’s involved.” R. 194, l. 21 – 195, l. 5; R. 224, ll. 15-21.

### **Relevant Facts**

During the charge conference, Judge Gibbons said: “I am staying away from saying ‘true verdict.’ I am aware of [what] *State v. Beat[y]* says about commenting on ‘a verdict that speaks the truth.’ I don’t say that.” R. 415, ll. 3-6. However, at the end of his credibility charge, Judge Gibbons told the jurors: “It becomes your duty as jurors to analyze and to evaluate the evidence and determine what evidence convinces you of its truth.” R. 453, ll. 2-4. In his charge on reasonable doubt, Judge Gibbons further instructed:

**So what is a reasonable doubt? I've said that word seventeen times. What does that mean? A reasonable doubt is that doubt which would make an honest, conscientious juror *searching for the truth* in a case to hesitate to act.** Proof beyond a reasonable doubt must therefore be proof of such a convincing character that a reasonable person would not hesitate to rely and act upon it in the most important of his or her own affairs. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt can also be described as proof that leaves you firmly convinced of the Defendant's guilt.

R. 456, l. 20 – 457, l. 7 (emphasis added). Following the charge, defense counsel objected to the Court's reasonable doubt charge, arguing: "You directed a 'search for the truth' language. I believe -- something along the lines of an honest and sincere, conscientious juror in search of the truth, we would object to that language." R. 476, ll. 16-21. Judge Gibbons responded: "Objection overruled." R. 476, l. 22.

### Discussion

Nearly two decades ago, in State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998), our Supreme Court strongly urged trial judges to avoid using any "seek" language in their charges to the jury. The Court noted that such "in search of the truth" language was unnecessary and ran the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to the defendant. 333 S.C. at 151-56, 508 S.E.2d at 865-68.

In State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000), our Supreme Court repeated its warning that trial courts should avoid using any "seek the truth" language. However, the court in Aleksey noted that in that case the "seek" language was used in the instruction on witness credibility. 343 S.C. at 27, 538 S.E.2d at 251-52. The "seek" language did not appear in either the reasonable doubt or circumstantial evidence portion of the instruction. Id. Thus, the Aleksey Court found that there was not a reasonable-likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a manner inconsistent with the state's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 28-29, 538 S.E.2d at 252-53.

In State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 737 S.E.2d 473 (2012), our Supreme Court considered a jury instruction that “whatever verdict you reach will represent truth and justice for all parties that are involved in this case.” Although the issue was not preserved, the Court instructed trial judges “[to] remove any suggestion from his general sessions charges that a criminal jury’s duty is to return a verdict that is ‘just’ or ‘fair’ to all parties. Such a charge could effectively alter the jury’s perception of the burden of proof, substituting justice and fairness for the presumption of innocence and the State’s burden to prove the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” 401 S.C. at 256, 737 S.E.2d at 475.

Despite our Supreme Court’s repeated admonitions regarding the dangers of “seek the truth” language in the court’s jury charge, trial judges have continued to employ new derivatives of this burden shifting language. Recently, in State v. Beaty, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 29, 2016) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 1 at 13), *rehearing granted* Mar. 24, 2017, our Supreme Court reviewed the trial court’s preliminary remarks to the jury, which included use of the terms “search[ing] for the truth,” “true facts,” and “just verdict.” The Court ruled:

[W]e agree with appellant that a trial court should refrain from informing the jury, whether through comments or through its charge, that its role is to search for the truth, or to find the true facts, or to render a just verdict. These phrases may be understood to place an obligation on the jury, independent of the burden of proof, to determine the circumstances surrounding the alleged crime and from those facts alone render the verdict it believes best serves the jury’s perception of justice. We caution trial judges to avoid these terms and any other that may divert the jury from its obligation in a criminal case to determine, based solely on the evidence presented, whether the State has proven the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Beaty, at 15-16. Even so, the Beaty Court found no prejudice sufficient to warrant reversal from the comments in light of its review of the entirety of the opening comments and the trial record. Id. at 16.

A recent empirical study reveals the practical reality of the problems with truth-related language in jury charges. Michael D. Cicchini & Lawrence T. White, Truth or Doubt? An Empirical Test of Criminal Jury Instructions, 50 U. Rich. L. Rev. 1139 (2016). Two-hundred ninety-eight mock jurors were presented with the same fact pattern of a hypothetical sexual assault case, which included an instruction on the elements of the crime charged; a synopsis of testimony from the minor child, the child's mother, and the defendant; and closing arguments from the prosecution and defense. Cicchini, at 1150-51. The mock jurors were randomly given one of three jury charges – a “to search for the truth” instruction, a “doubt-only” instruction, or a “combination” truth and doubt instruction. Cicchini, at 1152-53. The study provided strong empirical data that “the truth-related language at the end of an otherwise proper reasonable doubt instruction actually diminishes the government’s burden of proof.” Cicchini, at 1155. The authors opined that their study reflects the invalidity of the judicial perception that the remainder of a jury charge can render the “truth” language harmless. Cicchini, at 1156-57.

It is simply not the jury’s function to search for the truth. A jury’s function is to determine whether the state has proven the defendant’s guilt *beyond a reasonable doubt*. See Francis v. Franklin, 471 U.S. 307, 313 (1985) (“The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.” (citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970))). Here, the “seeking the truth” language was included in the reasonable doubt charge, arguably the most precarious place it could appear. The jury’s question regarding the amount of time that passed between the car driving off and when it circled it back by Haefner is evidence of their focus on determining the “truth” rather than evaluating the evidence that was presented. R. 191, ll. 10-15. The trial judge’s refusal to rectify his erroneous

charge was not harmless in this case because there is evidence that the jury sought information outside of the record, ostensibly to fulfill their truth-finding mission and empirical data suggests that the inclusion of truth-finding language diminishes the state's burden of proof. Lewis is accordingly entitled to a new trial.

## II.

**The trial court erred in declining to charge Appellant's requested instructions on identification and credibility where they court's standard charges failed to address many of the factors that the jury should reasonably consider in evaluating the accuracy of the identification and the credibility of the witnesses and failed to charge the jurors that they "may believe all, part, or none of a witness' testimony" and "may believe many witnesses against one or one against many."**

### Relevant Facts

At the charge conference, defense counsel presented two proposed charges to the court – one on identification and one on credibility. R. 406, l. 11 – 407, l. 2; R. 485; 487. Originally, the prosecutor stated that she had no objection to the defense's requested identification charge. R. 407, ll. 3-21. Judge Gibbons then read his standard charge to the attorneys, which he described as "shorter, sweeter, [and] easier to understand." R. 407, l. 22 – 409; l. 13. Defense counsel reiterated his desire to submit the defense's proposed charge to the jury. R. 409, ll. 13-15. The prosecutor then backtracked, agreeing with the court that the charge he read was "shorter" and "sweeter." R. 409, ll. 17-20. She also expressed "concern" over the proposed charge's inclusion of language that "[t]he prosecution has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the crime was committed AND that the defendant was the person who committed the crime," which she averred "just adds, uh, charges that will already be covered by Your Honor with respect to reasonable doubt." R. 409, l. – 410, l. 1. R. 485 Judge Gibbons ruled: "I'm going to charge my charge and not the Defendant's request to charge. Looking at the

Defendant's request to charge, I believe that it impermissibly comments on the facts, so I am not going to charge that one." R. 410, ll. 10-15.

With respect to the defense's credibility charge, counsel stated that he understood that the Court had a credibility charge but argued that the proposed charge "provides additional grounds/factors for the jury to evaluate a witness' testimony and whether they'd have a reason to lie or had various issues in viewing what happened, remembering what happened correctly." R. 411, ll. 2-14. Judge Gibbons ruled: "I will give the credibility charge, my own charge because it's easier to understand and it's not as long." R. 411, ll. 15-17. Though not necessary, following the conclusion of the jury charge, defense counsel renewed his objection to the use of the court's charges on identification and credibility rather than those requested by the defense. R. 476, ll. 10-14.

### **Discussion**

There were several matters included in the requested charges that were missing from the standard charges given to the jury in Lewis' case. Jury instructions should be designed to enlighten the jury and aid it in arriving at a correct verdict. State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). Having standard charges benefits judges, but trial judges should not abdicate their duties of charging the jury on the law as presented by the facts to a book of general charges. Rather, trial judges must mold standard charges to fit the particular circumstances of each case. See State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328 (1989) (holding that "standard charges" or "approved charges" do not excuse a trial judge from crafting charges designed to address the specific case); State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 418, 535 S.E.2d 431, 435 (2000) ("A trial judge should specifically tailor the self-defense instruction to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by the defendant."); see also Brodes v. State, 614 S.E.2d 766, 771 (Ga. 2005)

(“In light of the scientifically-documented lack of correlation between a witness’s certainty in his or her identification of someone as the perpetrator of a crime and the accuracy of that identification, and the critical importance of accurate jury instructions as the lamp to guide the jury’s feet in journeying through the testimony in search of a legal verdict, we can no longer endorse an instruction authorizing jurors to consider the witness’s certainty in his/her identification as a factor to be used in deciding the reliability of that identification” (internal quotations omitted)); State v. Long, 721 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986) (discussing the importance and need for tailoring jury instructions on eyewitness identifications to the facts and circumstances of each individual case).

“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). “If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, the trial judge should grant the requested charge. The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 159, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct. App. 2006). In the present case, the trial judge gave his standard charges on identification and credibility, such that there was no dispute that both matters were at issue in the trial and the proper subject of jury charges. The trial judge rejected the defense’s proposed charges because he found that the proposed identification charge impermissibly commented on the facts and found that the proposed credibility charge was more difficult to understand and longer than the standard charge. R. 410, ll. 10-15; R. 411, ll. 15-17.

### *Identification Charge*

Due Process requires the prosecution prove every element of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt – including the element that the defendant is the actual perpetrator. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970); Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 400, 585 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2003); State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); State v. Lane, 406 S.C. 118, 749 S.E.2d 165 (Ct. App. 2013). Jury instructions are important particularly in matters of witness identifications due to the high number of wrongful convictions based upon erroneous identifications. See Perry v. New Hampshire, 565 U.S. 228, 245 (2012).

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