**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Greenville County  
Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

vs.

BRIAN WILLIE LEWIS,

RECEIVED  
Respondent, MAY 15 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2017-000482  
\_\_\_\_\_

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The trial court's instructions as a whole correctly conveyed to the jury the concept of reasonable doubt, and Appellant was not prejudiced by the alleged error in the reasonable doubt instruction.**

Lewis argues he is entitled to a new trial because the trial court used the term “search for the truth” in defining reasonable doubt. The jury instructions, considered in totality, did not reduce or shift the State’s burden to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt.

Amazingly, Lewis claims, “It is simply not the jury’s function to search for the truth.” However, determining the truth, including an assessment of the witnesses’ credibility, is precisely the function delegated solely to jurors. The constitution restricts the trial judges from instructing jurors on the facts of the case. S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. The purpose of this provision is to ensure the exclusive judgment of the facts of the case are made by the jury. Referencing a similar provision from the 1895 constitution, the Supreme Court explained, “The real object of this clause of the Constitution is to leave the decision of all questions of fact to the jury exclusively, . . .” State v. Pruitt, 187 S.C. 58, 196 S.E. 371, 373 (1938). A “fact” is defined by the American Heritage Dictionary as “4.a. Something having real, demonstrable existence. b. The quality of being real or actual.” Houghton Mifflin, The American Heritage Dictionary (2d ed. 1982). “Fact-finding” is “[t]he discovery or determination of facts or accurate information.” Id.

The **central function** of the trial process in both criminal and civil cases is to discover the truth. See Portuondo v. Agard, 529 U.S. 61, 73 (2000) (stating “the central function of [a] trial . . . is to discover the truth”); see also State v. Wren, 322 S.C. 103, 105, 470 S.E.2d 111, 112 (Ct. App.

1996) (“A trial is a search for the truth[.]”); see, e.g., Carella v. California, 491 U.S. 263, 265 (1989) (explaining that burden-relieving jury instructions “subvert the presumption of innocence accorded to accused persons and also invade **the truth-finding task assigned solely to juries** in criminal cases.” (emphasis added)).

As part of the truth-seeking process, the State carries the burden to prove a criminal defendant’s guilt for every element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970); see also Burr v. Florida, 474 U.S. 879, 880 (1985) (“[T]he **beacon of the truth-seeking process** in criminal cases is not absolute certainty, but the ‘reasonable doubt’ standard[.]” (emphasis added)). However, the jury must analyze the evidence presented by both parties to determine the facts – in other words, the truth.

In the instant case, as in other cases with isolated “search” language in the jury instructions, the charge as a whole is a correct statement of law and did not reduce or shift the State’s burden. “An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2010) (citing State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007)). “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” Mattison, 388 S.C. at 478, 697 S.E.2d at 583 (citations omitted). Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989). On review of a jury charge, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole in view of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Lee Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 406, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007).

Regarding a jury charge on reasonable doubt, “[t]he beyond a reasonable doubt standard is a requirement of due process, but the Constitution neither prohibits trial courts from defining reasonable doubt nor requires them to do so as a matter of course.” Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 5 (1994). In a criminal case, a trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the necessity that the defendant’s guilt be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, and no specific language or wording is required to be used to advise the jury of that burden of proof. Id. In order to meet the requirements of the Constitution, jury instructions as a whole must only correctly convey to the jury the concept of reasonable doubt. Id.

Significantly, our state supreme court has repeatedly recognized trial judges are not required to specifically define reasonable doubt when instructing the jury in criminal cases. See State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 126, 470 S.E.2d 366, 373 (1996) (finding no error in the trial judge’s refusal to define reasonable doubt during the jury instructions) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Giles*, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014). Nonetheless, our state supreme court held “[j]ury instructions on reasonable doubt which charge the jury to ‘seek the truth’ are disfavored because they ‘[run] the risk of unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof to a defendant.’” State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 26-27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000) (quoting State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 155, 508 S.E.2d 857, 867–68 (1998)). “The standard for review of an ambiguous jury instruction is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the Constitution.” Id. (citing Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991)).

In the instant case, the trial court provided the following instruction:

So what is a reasonable doubt? I’ve said that word seventeen times. What does that mean? A reasonable doubt is that doubt which would make an honest, conscientious juror searching for the truth in a

case to hesitate to act. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt must therefore be proof of such a convincing character that a reasonable person would not hesitate to rely and act upon it in the most important of his or her own affairs.

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt can also be described as proof that leaves you firmly convinced of the Defendant's guilt.

R. p. 456, line 20 – p. 457, line 7.

This Court previously addressed the reasonable doubt instruction provided in State v. Pradubsri, 420 S.C. 629, 803 S.E.2d 724 (Ct. App. 2017). This Court noted the Supreme Court's opinion from State v. Beaty, Op. No. 27693 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Dec. 29, 2016, refiled April 25, 2018), which admonishes its circuit court judges to refrain from using "seek" or "search" in jury instructions, but nonetheless found the defendant was unable to show prejudice from the instruction. This Court compared Beaty to the Supreme Court's same admonishment to its circuit court judges in State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998). In that case, the Supreme Court found problematic the following instruction, which is nearly identical to the present case:

[A] reasonable doubt is a doubt which makes an honest, sincere, conscientious juror in search of the truth in the case hesitate to act. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt must, therefore, be proof of such a convincing character that a reasonable person would not hesitate to rely and to act upon it in the most important of his or her own affairs.

Needs, 333 S.C. at 152, 508 S.E.2d at 866. Notably, the circumstantial evidence instructions also used "search" language. Id. However, the Supreme Court, as it did in Beaty, found the language harmless because the reasonable doubt standard was referenced twenty-six times and other disfavored language – "moral certainty" and "real reason" language was not used in the jury instructions. Needs, 333 S.C. at 154-55, 508 S.E.2d at 867-68. Even while advising trial courts to abandon the "search for the truth" language in the reasonable doubt charge, the Supreme Court

noted, “trial judges have talked about jurors searching for the truth for more than a century.” Id. at 154, 508 S.E.2d at 867 (citations omitted).

This Court concluded Pradubsri was not prejudiced by the identical instruction from Needs, noting the trial court referenced the reasonable doubt standard twenty times in its instructions and did not use the problematic “moral certainty” and “real reason” terms. Pradubsri, 420 S.C. at 640-41, 803 S.E.2d at 730. The trial court in the instant case referenced the reasonable doubt standard twenty-five other times and did not use the “moral certainty” or “real reason” terms. Accordingly, in line with Needs and Pradubsri, the trial court’s decision to use the “search” language from Needs was harmless and did not prejudice Lewis.

## II.

**The trial court did not err in declining to charge the jury Appellant's suggested instructions on identification and credibility of witnesses and instead providing its own instructions. The trial court's instructions adequately apprised the jury of the law. Appellant failed to explain why the trial court's identification instruction was not sufficient, so the issue is not preserved for review. Further, any error was not prejudicial to Appellant.**

Lewis combines two separate issues into one – arguing the trial court erred in declining Lewis' requested charges and relying on its own instructions for eyewitness identification and credibility of witnesses. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in either case, and the trial court's decision to decline the specific language requested by Lewis did not prejudice Lewis. Further, the sufficiency of the instruction for identification is not preserved for review.

### **A. Identification charge**

First, Lewis argues the trial court erred in declining Lewis' requested instruction on eyewitness identification. The trial court did not err as the instruction was confusing and a comment on the facts. Lewis cites case law from other jurisdictions that this Court already rejected to support of his argument. Further, Lewis failed to preserve this issue for review because he failed to articulate any explanation to the trial court as to why the trial court's instruction was inadequate. Further, his requested instruction is an improper comment on the facts.

“Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005). “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” Id. Here, the charge was a current and correct statement of the law on identification

testimony in South Carolina.

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge’s decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. To warrant reversal, a trial judge’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 270-71, 721 S.E.2d 413, 422 (2011). “Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues.” State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 512, 716 S.E.2d 97, 108 (2011). “The substance of the law is what must be charged to the jury, not any particular verbiage.” State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011).

Lewis puts forward arguments already rejected by this Court and the Supreme Court. In State v. Motes, 264 S.C. 317, 215 S.E.2d 190 (1975), the Supreme Court considered the model jury instruction from United States v. Telfaire, 469 F.2d 552 (D.C. Cir 1972). The Supreme Court held there was no error in the trial court’s refusal to charge the Telfaire model instruction, noting the model instruction was “designed to focus the attention of the jury on the identification issue and minimize the risk of conviction through false or mistaken identification.” Motes, 264 S.C. at 326, 215 S.E.2d at 194. However, the Supreme Court found, “The trial, and the instructions given, adequately focused the attention of the jury on the necessity for a finding that the testimony identified defendant as the offender beyond a reasonable doubt; therefore, no prejudice resulted to defendant from the failure to give the requested instruction.” Id.

In State v. Green, 412 S.C. 65, 770 S.E.2d 424 (Ct. App. 2015), this Court likewise found a standard identification instruction sufficient for the jury. This Court specifically found Green’s reliance on two out of state cases, Brodes v. State, 614 S.E.2d 766 (Ga. 2005) and State v. Long, 721 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986), misplaced. Lewis relies on these same two cases in his brief. This Court

noted that other courts found Brodes' instruction superfluous or an impermissible judicial comment on the evidence. Green, 412 S.C. at 77-78, 770 S.E.2d at 431. Long held cautionary instructions based on Telfaire's suggested instructions should be given, but the Utah court held the trial court has the discretion to craft appropriate instructions. Long, 721 P.2d at 492. This Court noted our state supreme court declined to require Telfaire instructions. Green, 412 S.C. at 78, 770 S.E.2d at 431.

Lewis claims the requested charge is not an instruction on the facts. However, Lewis fails to cite State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016), which is controlling. In Stukes, our Supreme Court found the instruction that advised the jury a rape victim's testimony need not be corroborated – an accurate statement of law – to be an unconstitutional instruction on the facts. Likewise, the requested instruction, telling jurors how they were supposed to decide the facts of the instant case, is likewise an unconstitutional charge on the facts. S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”).

In the instant case, the trial court provided the following instruction:

Now, the State has the burden of proving identity beyond a reasonable doubt. You must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of the accuracy of the identification of the Defendant before you may convict him.

Identification testimony is an expression or belief or impression by a witness. You must determine the accuracy of the identification of the Defendant. You must consider the believability of each identification witness in the same way as any other witness. You may consider whether the witness had an adequate opportunity to observe the offender at the time of the alleged offenses. This will be affected by things like how long or short a time was available; how far or close the witness may have been from the offender, alleged offender; the lighting conditions; whether or not the witness had the chance to see or know the person in the past. Once again I instruct that the burden on the State extends to every element of the crimes charged and this specifically includes the burden proving beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the Defendant.

If after examining the testimony you have a reasonable doubt as to the accuracy of the identification you must find the Defendant not guilty.

R. p. 461, line 5 – p. 462, line 13. The trial court, before rejecting Lewis’ requested instruction, noted, “Mine is shorter, sweeter, [and] easier to understand . . . .” R. p. 407, lines 22-25. The prosecutor initially did not object to Lewis’ proposed instruction, but when the trial court provided its superior instruction, the prosecution agreed it was better than Lewis’ proposed language. R. p. 407, lines 18-21; p. 409, line 17 – p. 410, line 3.

This Court concluded the similar instruction provided to the jury in Green was sufficient. Green, 412 S.C. at 76-77, 770 S.E.2d at 430. Because the trial court’s instruction provided the jury the proper test for determining the reliability of the identification and stressed the requirement that identity be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, the trial court did not err in declining Lewis’ requested instruction.

Further, Lewis never explained to the trial court why his language was superior to the trial court instruction. While Lewis asked that his requested instruction be made a court’s exhibit if the trial court used its own instruction, Lewis never argued why the trial court’s instruction was not sufficient. R. p. 410, lines 6-8. “The objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). Therefore, the issue is not preserved for review. Ex parte McMillan, 319 S.C. 331, 334, 461 S.E.2d 43, 45 (1995) (holding a party cannot acquiesce to an issue at trial, but then complain on appeal).

#### **B. Credibility of witnesses**

Lewis alleges the trial court erred in declining his requested instruction regarding the

credibility of witnesses. However, the trial court's instruction on credibility was sufficient.

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